1952

H. C. Shoemaker et al v. State of Utah : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This appeal arises from a memorandum decision (Rec. 81-89) by F. W. Keller, District Judge of the Seventh Judicial District, filed with the county clerk of Utah County on April

17, 1952, which expunged from the records of the District Court of Utah County certain portions of a report of a Utah County Grand Jury presented in open court on the first day of December, 1951.

On August 8, 1951, a Grand Jury was duly drawn and impaneled for Utah County (Rec. 5). This body of seven citizens was duly charged by the court (Rec. 6-17) as to the duties and responsibilities under the statutes of the state of Utah. We quote this charge in part (Rec. 7):

Where, in the discharge of your statutory duties as set forth in this charge, you find conditions worthy of special comment by you, even though no indictment may be found, it is your duty to report such conditions to the Court so that proper public officers may have an opportunity to correct undesirable or questionable conditions, and so that the public of this County may be informed as to the condition of health of their government and administration.

After three and a half months of deliberation, the Grand Jury in response to the charge of the Court presented a report entitled, "Grand Jury Presentment," (Rec. 21) which was signed individually by each of the grand jurors. This report is made up of seven divisions. Division 1 deals with findings and recommendations concerning Utah State Training School (Rec. 22); division 2 is composed of findings and recommendations concerning the Utah State Hospital (Rec. 30); division 3 is composed of findings and recommendations concerning the operations of the State Road Commission in Utah County (Rec. 39); division 4 deals with the affairs of Utah County (Rec. 45); division 5 concerns the Alpine School District (Rec. 47);

division 6, the findings and recommendations concerning law enforcement in Provo City (Rec. 48); and division 7 concludes with general recommendations of the Grand Jury (Rec. 51).

After the presentment had been preferred to the court and made public, H. C. Shoemaker, William A. Dawson, Philo T. Farnsworth, D. H. Whittenburg, Harley J. Corleissen and Layton Maxfield filed a petition to expunge the grand jury report. In addition, a Motion to Expunge was filed on behalf of Provo City. In each case, the motions were supported by affidavits by those seeking expunction (Rec. 54-73). In response to the aforementioned motions, a motion to strike paragraphs, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9 and 10 of the petition of H. C. Shoemaker, et al., and the affidavits in support thereof, and part of paragraph 2 of the Provo City motion and the affidavits of W. J. Farley and Clair M. Aldrich in support thereof, was filed on behalf of the people of the state of Utah. The matter was subsequently submitted to the Honorable F. W. Keller, District Judge sitting specially for the Fourth Judicial District. On April 15, 1952, the Honorable Judge Keller rendered a memorandum decision, the effect of which was to grant the Motion to Strike filed on behalf of the people of the state of Utah and to expunge a part of the grand jury presentment, as follows (Rec. 89):

1. That portion thereof dealing with the American Fork Training School and its administration under the title, "Findings and Recommendations Concerning the Utah State Training School.
2. That portion thereof dealing with the activities of the State Road Commission in Utah County under

the title, "Findings and Recommendations Concerning the Operations of the State Road Commission in Utah County.

Except as indicated in the two paragraphs next above, the motion of the Commissioners to expunge the entire report of the grand jury is denied.

I order expunged from the grand jury report all of that portion thereof under the title, "Findings and Recommendations With Respect to Law Enforcement in Provo City," except paragraph three and the last paragraph under that title.

From this decision this appeal is made.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

I

A GRAND JURY IS EMPOWERED TO MAKE A REPORT OF ITS INVESTIGATIONS EVEN THOUGH IT DOES NOT RETURN AN INDICTMENT.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

A GRAND JURY IS EMPOWERED TO MAKE A REPORT OF ITS INVESTIGATIONS EVEN THOUGH IT DOES NOT RETURN AN INDICTMENT.

It is the view of appellant that this appeal raises one question, viz., the power of a grand jury to make a report in

the nature of a presentment without returning an indictment. In other words, the power of a grand jury to make report of conditions existing within public institutions and offices investigated by the grand jury and concerning which the grand jury has received evidence, even though, in the opinion of the grand jury, the evidence received does not warrant the return of an indictment.

Appellant contends for the affirmative of this proposition and respectfully submits that the common law and the law of jurisdictions which proceed under statutes, which for all practical purposes are identical to those of the State of Utah, governing the deliberations and procedures of grand juries, support appellant's position.

Appellant will discuss the law as it relates to this problem under two principal heads, viz., the power of the grand jury at common law, and the power of the grand jury under the modern codes.

(A) At Common Law

It can be safely asserted that at common law the power of a grand jury to make presentment was not confined to an accusation of crime. Indeed, we find that the grand juries made use of the presentment not only as an adjunct of criminal procedure, but made use of it as an essential part of the administration of the affairs of local government. See W. S. Holdsworth, *A History of English Law*, vol. X, pp. 146-151.

In discussing the use made of the presentment (Vol. X, pp. 147-148) Holdsworth says, quoting in part from Webb, *The Parish and the County*, 454:

Some times these presentments took the form of complaints that particular statutes had not been enforced by the justices and the other officials responsible for seeing to their observance. "In 1700 when royal proclamations had vainly endeavoured to keep down 'the excessive price of corn,' by fulminating against forestalling and regrating, the Essex Grand Jury drew attention to, 'the very great neglect of several Constables in this County,' and incidentally to the remissness of the justices themselves in not making arrangements to insist on the licensing, according to law, of 'badgers, jobbers, and drovers.'

The most important class of cases to which this procedure was applied was the class of cases concerned with the maintenance of roads, bridges, gaols, and other county buildings. Inhabitants were presented for not repairing their highways; counties were presented for not repairing bridges, gaols, or houses of correction; and disputes between different districts were fought in proceedings initiated in this manner. So normal was this procedure in these cases that it was approved and encouraged by the Legislature. * * *

Again, at page 149, of the same volume:

This machinery of presentment, of which so much use was made, had three good results. * * * In the second place, it gave the inhabitants of the county, who were chosen to serve on the grand jury, an opportunity of expressing their views upon the conduct of the local government; and therefore it was a check on the autocratic power of the justices.

In volume I of the same work, at page 322, we find further comment:

The grand jury of modern times still retains some traces of antiquity which have been lost to the other

varieties of the jury. They consider the evidence in secret, and the court does not control or advise them as to their findings in the individual cases which come before them. It merely charges them generally as to the nature of the business which they are about to consider. They can always act if they please on their own knowledge; and Holt tells us that they often so acted at the end of the seventeenth century. They can act at the present day in much the same way as they acted in the thirteenth century.

From the foregoing account and the footnotes contained in the cited text it becomes apparent that the presentment was used without as well as in conjunction with indictments; and when used alone it was for the purpose of calling the attention of the crown and the local inhabitants to conditions for which the officers of the local units of government were responsible.

Chancellor Kent, in speaking of the English common law, says:

* * * It has proved to be a system replete with vigorous and healthy principles, eminently conducive to the growth of civil liberty; * * * . It is the common jurisprudence of the United States, and was brought with them as colonists from England, and established here, so far as it was adapted to our institutions and circumstances. *Commentaries on American Law*, by James Kent, vol. 1, p. 343.

This, no doubt, is the same common law referred to in *People vs. Green*, 1 Utah 11, 13, wherein the court was of the opinion that the common law was most positively extended over the Territory of Utah by the Congressional Act of September 9, 1850.

Where not specifically restricted by statute the grand jury functions with the same common law powers today as it did at common law. *O'Regan v. Schermerhorn*, 25 N. J., M. 1, 50 A. 2nd 10, 20, 25.

In the early days of the Utah Territory (1863) we find that a Federal Grand Jury considered it its duty to make public note of the conduct of the Territorial Governor, Stephen S. Harding. Tullidge, *History of Salt Lake City*, pp. 322, 323. We quote in part the Presentment of Governor Harding:

Therefore, we the United States Grand Jury for the Third Judicial District for the Territory of Utah, present his 'Excellency' Stephen S. Harding, Governor of Utah, as we would an unsafe bridge over a dangerous stream—jeopardizing the lives of all who pass over it, or, as we would a pestiferous cesspool in our district, breeding disease and death.

This presentment was spread upon the records of the court in response to the request of the Grand Jury. Chief Justice Kinney in discharging this jury said, in part:

I am well persuaded that in no spirit of malice or undue prejudice have you been induced *to call the attention of the Court and people* to what you regard as the official misconduct of the Executive, but only as the deliberate result of your investigations for the public good. (Emphasis supplied).

Our statute 88-2-1, Utah Code Annotated, 1943 provides as follows:

The common law of England so far as it is not repugnant to, or in conflict with, the constitution or laws of this state, and so far only as it is consistent

with and adapted to the natural and physical conditions of this state and the necessities of the people thereof, is hereby adopted, and shall be the rule of decision in all courts of this state.

By the plain words of the statute the common law of England becomes the rule of decision in all the courts of this state, insofar as it is not in conflict with nor repugnant to the constitution and laws of this state and the United States.

We have seen that at the English Common Law it was a settled practice for the grand jury to make public note of discrepancies existing within the local organs of government; further, that a Federal Grand Jury in territorial Utah found it its duty to call public attention to the faults of the territorial governor, and their action approved by the court in so doing.

Our constitutional provision, Article 1, § 13, provides in part:

* * * The grand jury shall consist of seven persons, five of whom must concur to find an indictment; but no grand jury shall be drawn or summoned unless in the opinion of the judge of the district, public interest demands it.

Certainly, the common law use of presentments is not repugnant to, nor in conflict with this section. That the statutes of this state, as they relate to the functions of the grand jury, are likewise free from conflict with the common law of England, is shown in the next succeeding subdivision of this brief by judicial authority interpreting statutes identical to our own. We think the constitution and laws of the state of Utah are more in aid of the common law than in derogation of it.

Therefore, it is respectfully submitted that we cannot but conclude that a grand jury, called in the state of Utah, has common law authority, sanctioned by statute, to return a presentment in the nature of a report even though an indictment does not or cannot follow it.

(B) Under Utah Statutes

Chapter 19, Title 105, Utah Code Annotated, 1943, as amended, defines the powers and duties of grand juries in Utah. Pertinent provisions of this chapter are herewith set forth.

105-19-1, as amended by Chapter 13, § 1, Laws of 1947, provides:

The grand jury may inquire into all public offenses within the jurisdiction of the court committed or triable within the county, and present them to the court by indictment, or by an accusation in writing.

105-19-4.

The grand jury shall not be bound to hear evidence for the defendant; but it is their duty to weigh all the evidence submitted to them, and when they have reason to believe that other evidence within their reach will explain away the charge, they should order such evidence to be produced, and for that purpose may require the prosecuting attorney to issue process for the witness.

105-19-7.

The grand jury must inquire into the case of every person imprisoned in the jails of the county on a criminal charge and not indicted or informed against; into the conditions and management of the public prisons within the county; and into the willful and

corrupt misconduct in office of public officers of every description within the county.

105-19-8.

They shall also be entitled to free access at all reasonable times to the public prisons, and to an examination without charge of all public records within the county

Appellant finds no Utah case which resolves the question at bar, nor any Utah case which interprets the provisions of the statutes above quoted. However, the question raised in this appeal has received judicial determination in jurisdictions whose statutes, governing the functions of grand juries, are in purpose and effect identical to our own. It is to be observed that nowhere in Utah law, constitutional or statutory, is there provision proscribing the use of a presentment in the nature of a report.

We direct the court's attention to the law in the State of California; and in doing so we set forth the following provisions of the Penal Code of California which are counterparts of those of the State of Utah set forth above.

Section 915.

The grand jury may inquire into all public offenses committed or triable within the county, and present them to the court by indictment.

Section 920.

The grand jury is not bound to hear evidence for the defendant; but it is their duty to weigh all the evidence submitted to them, and when they have reason to believe that other evidence within their reach will explain away the charge, they should order such evi-

dence to be produced, and for that purpose may require the district attorney to issue process for the witnesses.

Section 922.

If a member of a grand jury knows, or has reason to believe, that a public offense, triable within the county, has been committed, he must declare the same to his fellow-jurors, who must thereupon investigate the same.

Section 923.

The grand jury must inquire into the case of every person imprisoned in the jail of the county on a criminal charge and not indicted; into the condition and management of the public prisons within the county; and into the willful or corrupt misconduct in office of public officers of every description within the county.

Section 924.

They are also entitled to free access, at all reasonable times, to the public prisons, and to the examination, without charge, of all public records within the county.

Under these provisions the case of *Irwin v. Murphy*, 129 Cal. App. 713, 19 P2d 292 (1933), California District Court of Appeals, was decided; (hearing denied by the Supreme Court in April of the same year.) In that case an action of libel had been filed against members of a grand jury for San Francisco County, because the grand jury had returned a report to the court condemning the local prize fight game as a "racket." The report further stated that gambling cliques "and other evil influences" dominated the boxing clubs; that the boxing commissioner was unfit; that the testimony of a certain referee, before the grand jury, was in conflict with other testimony; that certain referees were selected as a money getting scheme.

The report noted that the evidence received by the grand jury justified these conclusions but did not warrant the return of an indictment. In addition the grand jury made certain recommendations, among which were: that the Governor request the resignation of the boxing commissioner, that the license of Irwin, a referee, be perpetually revoked. The report was concluded with suggestions as to remedies to ameliorate these conditions. This report was caused to be openly published by the grand jury. After deciding the report was privileged, the court specifically determined that the grand jury had not exceeded its powers in returning a report without finding an indictment, and at page 293, said:

In the Matter of Tyler, 64 Cal. 434, 437, 1 P. 884, 887, it was said: "A grand jury should never forget that it sits as the great inquest between the state and the citizen." From the foregoing it is manifest that a grand jury is inherently a body of inquisition empowered to make full and diligent inquiry into public offenses triable within the county. This idea is carried out in the provisions of the Penal Code. Section 920 places the duty of investigation with the grand jury, and demands that this body not only hear and weigh incriminating evidence, but that it shall hear evidence which it may have reason to believe will explain or clear away any pending charge. Section 922 again places upon the grand jury the duty of investigating a charge where any member has reason to believe that a public offense has been committed.

The appellant concedes, as he must, the foregoing. Thus conceding, he would limit any report of the grand jury to an indictment, presentment, accusation, or an express report ignoring the charge. In other words, appellant argues that when the commission of a public

offense is being inquired into or investigated the power of the grand jury is limited to a definite charge, whether by indictment or otherwise, against the person being investigated; that if the grand jury does not find sufficient evidence to indict, the power of the body terminates and any act thereafter is in excess of jurisdiction. We think this too narrow a construction to be placed upon the powers of a grand jury. As a matter of routine, if nothing further, the power to investigate includes as an integral part thereof the right and duty to report the result of such investigation. The duty of a grand jury is to protect the citizen against unfounded accusation. *Matter of Tyler, supra*. Such a duty, coupled with the power of investigation, almost demands completeness of disclosure on matters investigated. It seems futile to attempt demonstration of the obvious. Law and common sense combine to compel the conclusion that, if a grand jury is authorized and bounden to inquire of public offense, a necessary element of this power must be the power and duty to disclose the result of the inquiry.

This case stands today as the law in California, and it is interesting to note that the court, while vigorously establishing the right of a grand jury to make a report without returning an indictment, does not limit the scope of such report to the censure of public officers only, but approves the censure of the erring private citizen as well.

The State of New York, it seems, has dealt with the question under consideration more than any other jurisdiction. In this connection it is again to be observed that the statutes of New York which pertain to grand juries provide for substantially the same procedure as do their counterparts in the Utah Code. We set forth the pertinent provisions of the New York Criminal Code of Criminal Procedure.

Section 260.

The grand jury must inquire,

1. Into the case of every person imprisoned in the jail of the county, on a criminal charge, and not indicted; and
2. Into the wilful and corrupt misconduct in office, of public officers of every description, in the county.
3. The grand jury may inquire into the condition and management of the public prisons in the county.

Section 261.

They are also entitled to free access, at all reasonable times, to the public prisons, and to the examination without charge, of all public records in the county.

The case of *In Re Jones*, 101 App. Div. 55, 16 N. Y. Anno. Cas. 15, 19 N.Y. Crim. Rep. 59, 92 N.Y.S. 275, 181 N.Y. 389, 74 N.E. 226, (1905), dealt squarely with the point here in issue. In that case, the grand jury, in the exercise of its inquisitorial powers, made a "report or presentment" censuring public officials for the improper performance of their duties, without indicting them. The public officials criticized moved to expunge the report. The motion was denied. The court interpreted the above quoted statutes and reasoned as follows:

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