1952

H. C. Shoemaker et al v. State of Utah : Brief for Plaintiffs and Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

instance. It would seem, therefore, that the necessary conclusion which must be reached is that at English common law written reports commenting generally on administrative matters and censuring and condemning public officers without charging a specific public offense were unknown. Furthermore, a "presentment" was not a written report. It was a written accusation charging a crime upon which an indictment could be based. Therefore, so far as the English common law is concerned, the use of the word "presentment" to identify a written report on general conditions, is a complete misnomer.

88-2-1 of the Utah Code provides as follows:

"The common law of England insofar as it is not repugnant to, or in conflict with, the Constitution or laws of the United States, or the Constitution or laws of this State, and so far only as it is consistent with and adapted to the natural and physical conditions of this State and the necessities of the people thereof, is hereby adopted, and shall be the rule of decision of all courts of this State."

If this statute be construed as adopting the English common law as distinguished from common law generally as it existed in 1896, it must of course be concluded that there is neither statutory nor common law authority for a written report identified as a "presentment" or otherwise which does not charge a public offense upon which a complaint or an indictment may be laid.

→ The cases in New York are discussed herein at some length because of the development in the law which has taken place before that court. Originally the New York

courts held that a motion to expunge the report of a grand jury which criticized and condemned individuals without charging a public offense upon which an indictment could be based would be denied on the grounds that a grand jury had authority to make such a report because of its broad inquisitorial powers. The first case of importance so holding was *In re Jones*, 92 N. Y. Supp. 275. It has frequently been quoted as a landmark case and Respondents believe has erroneously been relied upon.) In that case the grand jury made a report criticizing the actions of the clerk of a *Board of Supervisors of Nassau County*. This clerk made a motion to set aside and quash the "presentment," which motion was denied. The Supreme Court of New York, Appellate Division, in January, 1905, affirmed the action of the lower court with one justice dissenting. In the majority opinion, the court said:

"I think, therefore, that any final finding upon the exercise of these inquisitorial powers may be called a presentment, and that it may be regarded as final, and not improper, because an indictment cannot or does not follow it. While it is true that the Code of Criminal Procedure does not in terms provide for a report as the result of this inquiry nor directly provide for a presentment, yet it is significant that the term is used in contradistinction to an indictment in section 250, which reads as follows:

"The grand jury must appoint one of their number as clerk, who is to preserve minutes of their proceedings (except of the votes of the individual members on a presentment or indictment), and of the evidence given before them."
 "* * * but, while a report or presentment

of a grand jury neither calls upon a person nor suffers him to answer, it may be that the court in its inherent power might, on the application of one aggrieved, refer or resubmit the matter to the further inquiry of the grand jury, or of a grand jury, in order that justice be done after a full hearing. I think that if under the guise of a presentment, the grand jury simply accuse, thereby compelling the accused to stand mute, where the presentment would warrant indictment so that the accused might answer, the presentment may be expunged; but I do not think that a presentment as a report upon the exercise of inquisitorial powers must be stricken out if it incidentally points out that this or that public official is responsible for omissions or commissions, negligence or defects."

Justice Woodward, who was the dissenting Justice, disapproved of the majority ruling and commented at some length on the common law background and his reasons for holding that such a report was not authorized and should be expunged on proper motion. (His dissenting opinion is herein quoted at some length because it is Respondents' opinion that this opinion more nearly represents what the law has become in New York State, and that it has been frequently quoted in the cases which represent the great weight of authority in this country.) At page 278 he states:

"* * * In determining the powers of the grand jury under the laws of this state, whether regulated by statute or usage constituting the common law, we have a right to consider what that body might do under this indefinite power of making presentments if that power be conceded. If it has the right to censure the petitioners in the matter now before us, it is difficult to conceive of any limi-

tation upon the powers of the grand jury. It may establish its own standards of right and wrong, and may subject the citizen to the odium of a *judicial condemnation without giving him the slightest opportunity to be heard*; oftentimes working, in the public estimate, as great an injury to his standing and character as though he had in fact been accused of a crime. This is a perversion of the essential spirit of the grand jury system, which had for its object the protection of the citizen against an open and *public accusation of crime, and from the trouble, expense, and anxiety of a public trial, before a probable cause is established by the presentment and indictment*. Jones v. Robbins, 8 Gray, 329, 344. It cannot be that it was ever contemplated that this body, created for the protection of the citizen, was to have the power to set up its own standards of public or private morals, and to arraign citizens at the bar of public opinion, without responsibility for its abuse of that power, and without giving to the citizen the right to a trial upon the accusations. . .

(* * * * *)

“There are two great purposes—one to bring to trial *those who are properly charged with crime*, the other to *protect the citizen against unfounded accusation of crime*. When the grand jury goes beyond this, and attempts to set up its own standards, and to administer punishment *in the way of public censure*, it is defeating the very purposes it was intended to conserve; and its action cannot, therefore, be lawful. Section 6 of article 1 of the state Constitution provides that ‘*no person shall be held to answer for a capital or otherwise infamous crime*’ * * * unless on presentment or indictment of a grand jury, and in any trial in any court whatever the party accused shall be allowed to appear and defend in person and with counsel as in civil actions.’ * * *

In other words, a ‘presentment on indict-

ment,' as applied to the citizen by our Constitution, contemplates, in substance, the same thing. It contemplates an accusation of crime, to be followed by an answer on the part of the person thus formally accused, with an opportunity to be heard in his own defense before a jury of his peers. The terms are, in their relation to the individual, synonymous. *No one would contend that a citizen could be indicted for anything less than a crime, or that, if indicted, he could be denied an opportunity to answer and to appear in his own defense before a jury; and it seems to be equally clear that there is no constitutional right to make a presentment against an individual in a case where an indictment would not lie. The rights of the citizen are the same under either an indictment or a presentment. There is the right to answer and to appear in person and by counsel, and to have a trial by jury in any case in which an indictment might properly be made. 'An indictment is an accusation in writing, presented by a grand jury to a competent court, charging a person with a crime.'* * * *

At page 280 the dissenting Justice said:

"* * * If there has been no crime or offense, the grand jury, designed for the protection of the citizen, has no right to *create an offense unknown to the law for the purpose of administering punishment by way of censure, for this a 'government of laws, not of men,'* to quote the preamble of the Constitution of Massachusetts and the language of Chief Justice Marshall in *Marbury v. Madison*, 1 Cranch, 163, 2 L. Ed. 60. The rule is not different because the accusation takes the form of a presentment rather than of an indictment, *which as I have already suggested, are synonymous terms as used in our jurisprudence,* and particularly so since the adoption of our Code of Criminal Procedure * * * If the

acts charged do not constitute a crime, then there is no indictment before the court, and the petitioners clearly *have a right to be relieved of the odium of a judicial censure, where the document in which such censure is contained is a mere impertinence, without authority of law.* * * *

In an earlier New York case, *In re Gardiner*, decided in 1900, and cited in 31 Misc. 364, 64 N. Y. Supp. 760, the grand jury made a "presentment" criticizing the District Attorney. The District Attorney made a motion to set aside or quash. The court, in granting the motion, said:

"Sometimes, however, our grand juries make a sort of general presentment of evil and evil things to call public attention to them, yet not an instruction for any specific indictment. No one could be called to answer to such a presentment. * * * While it may be observed that the court had tolerated rather than sanctioned such presentments of things general, yet the *grand jury should never, under cover of a presentment, present an individual in this manner; for if it have legal evidence of the commission of a crime, it should find an indictment against him upon which he could be held to answer, and if it have no such evidence, it ought, in fairness, to be silent. The powers of the grand jury extend only to questions of crime.* Its functions are not executive, but *judicial.* It is in fact a preliminary tribunal, and it is furnished with inquisitorial powers only for the purpose of examining into crimes."

The next case of importance after the *Jones* case was *Re Osborne*, 68 Misc. 597, 125 N. Y. Supp. 313, decided in 1910. In that case the grand jury had filed a report reflecting upon the professional integrity of the *prosecuting*

attorney. He had made a motion to strike from the record. The court in sustaining his motion said:

“It has become a custom of almost invariable occurrence that the grand jury, at the close of its term, makes a presentment on some subject on which, frequently, no evidence has been heard. This, no doubt, proceeds from the zeal of its members to promote the general welfare by calling attention to certain conditions which they believe should be remedied. So long as they are confined to matters of general interest they are regarded as harmless, even though a waste of time and effort, and after the ephemeral notice of the day has passed they are allowed a peaceful rest. But it is very different when the motives and conduct of the individual are impugned, and he held to reprobation, without an opportunity to defend or protect his name and reputation, for it must be borne in mind that if the gentlemen of the grand jury were to meet as an association of individuals and give expression to the sentiments contained in a presentment, little attention would be paid to them, and a healthy regard for the responsibility of utterances injurious to the individual would, in all probability, restrain exaggerated and unfounded statements. The mischief arises from a prevalent belief that a grand jury making the conventional presentment speaks with great authority, and acts under the sanction of the court, thereby giving to its deliverance a solemnity which impresses the mind of the public. This is a grave error. The powers and duties of a grand jury are defined by law. No matter how respectable or eminent citizens may be who comprise the grand jury, they are not above the law, and the people have not delegated to them arbitrary or plenary powers to do that, under an ancient form, which they have not a legal right to do.”

The court in the *Osborne* case, *supra*, referred to the *Jones* case, *supra*, and after discussing the majority opinion remarked that the dissenting opinion of Justice Woodward was founded on better reason and then ordered that the paper entitled a "presentment" be stricken and expunged from the records. The court in the *Osborne* case thus repudiated the majority opinion in the *Jones* case and adopted the dissenting opinion of Justice Woodward. (1909)

In re Hafernan, 125 N. Y. Supp. 737, the grand jury had made a presentment charging certain borough officials with neglect of their duties and of the public interest. A motion was made to set aside and expunge this from the record on the ground that it was "inadvisedly made by the grand jury in excess of its powers." The court in granting the motion said:

"* * * They are not part of the administrative government of a great municipality. They have the fullest and amplest power to investigate, as it is their solemn and prescribed duty to do, into 'the wilful and corrupt misconduct in office, of public officers of every description, in the county.' Finding any such evidence of wilful and corrupt misconduct, it would be their clear duty to indict. Then the official could have his day in court, where he would receive either the condemnation which he deserved if his actions have been unlawful, or the vindication that he would desire in case he was blameless. From a grand jury, obviously nothing but the fairest consideration of any questions submitted to them is expected. The Star Chamber of the olden days no longer exists, and any action on the part of a grand jury which would partake of the character of the proceedings of that ancient and abhorred system would not be tolerated today."

To the same effect see *Re Crosby* (1925) 126 Misc. 250, 213 N. Y. S. 86, *Re Funston* (1929) 133 Misc. 620, 233 N. Y. S. 81, *People v. McCabe* (1933) 148 Misc. 330, 266 N. Y. S. 363, and *Re Wilcox* (1934) 153 Misc. 761, 276 N. Y. S. 117. In all these cases the court expunged from the record a so-called "presentment".

In the *Crosby* case, *supra*, the court expunged from the records a grand jury report which lauded the high character of certain officials but at the same time criticized them for the *prevalence of gambling and houses of prostitution*. The presentment apparently also contained *numerous philosophical observances*.

In the *Funston* case, *supra*, the court indicated that a "presentment" could not be used by the grand jury to attack the name of a citizen or to charge a public official *with misconduct without giving him a chance to be heard*. The court, therefore, expunged the presentment.

In the *McCabe* case, *supra*, the court, in expunging the "presentment" from the record said:

"A presentment is a foul blow. It wins the importance of a judicial document; yet it lacks its principal attributes—the right to answer and to appeal. It accuses, but furnishes no forum for a denial. No one knows upon what evidence the findings are based. An indictment may be challenged—even defeated. The presentment is immune. It is like the 'hit and run' motorist. Before application can be made to suppress it, it is the subject of public gossip. The damage is done. The injury it may unjustly inflict may never be healed."

In the *Wilcox* case, *supra*, the presentment charged gross irregularities on the part of certain election inspectors. This was ordered expunged on petition of one of the inspectors involved.

In the *Healey* case, 293 N. Y. S. 584, a New York Court *by dicta* indicated that because of New York statutes and broad inquisitorial powers of grand juries in that jurisdiction could make a written report criticizing public officials but not private individuals. The motion to expunge was granted and the court indulged in strong language criticizing a "presentment" which referred to the private individual. The writer is at a loss to understand the distinction drawn by the dicta used. In any event the N. Y. statutes apparently do not provide for removal proceedings for conduct of public officials who are guilty of wilfull and corrupt misconduct. In Utah the statutes so provide so that even the New York dicta is not applicable.

The *Jones* case, *supra*, went to the New York Supreme Court, which court refused to review because it claimed lack of jurisdiction.

Thus in New York the numerical majority of the courts follow the dissenting opinion in the *Jones* case, and one court, perhaps two, by dicta, follow the majority opinion. It therefore, of course, must be concluded that there is no settled law in New York, and any decision relied upon from that jurisdiction is unreliable, and certainly is not the law, even in that state.

There is a California case which seems to collaterally hold, at least by way of dicta, that the grand jury has a

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